Routinely used interventions to improve attachment in infants and young children: a national survey and two systematic reviews

Barry Wright,¹ Pasco Fearon,² Megan Garside,³ Eleni Tsappis,³ Elaine Amoah,² Danya Glaser,² Victoria Allgar,⁴ Helen Minnis,⁵ Matthew Woolgar,⁶ Rachel Churchill,⁷ Dean McMillan,⁸ Peter Fonagy,² Alison O'Sullivan⁹ and Michelle McHale¹⁰

 ¹Hull York Medical School, University of York, York, UK
²Research Department of Clinical, Educational and Health Psychology, University College London, London, UK
³Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, Leeds, UK
⁴Peninsula Medical School, Faculty of Health, University of Plymouth, Plymouth, UK
⁵Institute of Health and Wellbeing, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, UK
⁶King's College London, London, UK
⁷Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York, York, UK
⁸Health Sciences, University of York, York, UK
⁹National Children's Bureau, London, UK
¹⁰Attachment Parenting UK, Totnes, UK

*Corresponding author barry.wright1@nhs.net

Declared competing interests of authors: Peter Fonagy received the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) ARC initiative funding for this report. Peter Fonagy reports grants from the NIHR ARC initiative (2019-present). He also receives royalties or licences from books published with Guildford Press, American Psychiatric Publishing and Oxford University Press. Any honoraria or payment for lectures, presentations and workshops are sent directly to the Anna Freud National Centre for Children and Families; Peter Fonagy receives no money personally for these activities. Peter Fonagy has leadership or fiduciary roles on the following boards: Honorary Treasurer of the Board of Directors of Psychoanalytic Electronic Publishing (1996-present); Clinical Professor of Psychiatry at Yale University School of Medicine (2004-present); International Panel Member of Academic Health Solutions Ltd (2017-present); Royal Foundation Steering Group for HRH The Duchess of Cambridge Early Years (2018-present); Member of the Board of Directors and Co-chair of the Quality of Care Subcommittee at Silver Hill Hospital, CT, USA (2019-present); National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health Management (2019-present); NSPCC Research Advisory Group (2019-present); Chairperson of The Prudence Trust Mental Health Advisory Panel (2020-present); member of the Remote Working in Mental Health Core Group, Health Innovation Network (2020-present); member of the Higher London Mental Health and Wellbeing network (2021-present), chairperson of the Silver Hill Academic Advisory Board (2021-present), trustee for Mental Health Innovations UK, board member of London Mental Health transformation Board of the Health London Partnership; and chairperson of the NHS Parent Infant Perinatal Pathway. He is also Chief Executive of the Anna Freud National Centre for Children and Families; Director for Mental Health and Behaviour Change Programmes, University College London;

and National Senior Clinical Advisor, Children and Young People's Mental Health, NHS England. Pasco Fearon is deputy editor-in-chief of the Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and receives an annual honorarium from the journal.

Published February 2023 DOI: 10.3310/IVCN8847

Scientific summary

Improving attachment in infants and young children Health Technology Assessment 2023; Vol. 27: No. 2 DOI: 10.3310/IVCN8847

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Scientific summary

Background

Attachment refers to a specific aspect of a relationship between a child and their caregiver that serves to make the child feel safe. Four attachment 'patterns' are used to classify infants' attachment relationships into categories: 'secure', 'insecure resistant', 'insecure avoidant' and 'disorganised'. Having a secure attachment pattern allows an infant to develop in an environment where they are able to explore from a secure base and adapt to threatening situations knowing that a safe haven (their caregiver) is in close proximity. Not all children have secure attachments to their caregivers, and research highlights the potential negative impact that 'disorganised' and, to some extent, 'insecure' attachment patterns can have on an individual's development. Some children raised in extremely insufficient caregiving circumstances may also develop disordered attachment, which is characterised by a pervasive absence of, or an impairment in, attachment behaviour to caregivers, and places the child at high risk of poor adaptation and has an impact on the child's social and emotional development and their mental health.

A range of parenting interventions have been developed that aim to promote secure attachment, reduce disorganised attachment patterns or reduce severe attachment problems. However, it appears that many interventions that are routinely used in clinical practice do not have a high level of evidence [e.g. randomised controlled trials (RCTs)] behind them. It is important that such interventions are robustly evaluated to determine their effectiveness and safety.

There is a need to investigate which attachment-focused interventions are currently used in UK practice and to then examine the evidence regarding their efficacy, as well as to identify which interventions have been tested in RCTs.

Objective

The main aim of the current study was to identify interventions that are routinely used to improve attachment in infants and young children and to examine the evidence for their use.

This research aimed to:

- 1. conduct a large-scale survey to identify interventions that are routinely used in the UK to improve the quality of attachment relationships to parents/caregivers
- 2. conduct a systematic review to evaluate the evidence supporting these manualised interventions, and other parenting interventions for children with (or at risk of) severe attachment problems
- 3. develop recommendations for future clinical trial research on the effectiveness of commonly used interventions that lack a robust evidence base.

Method

Phase 1 consisted of a large comprehensive UK survey of organisations that provide interventions for children aged 0–13 years who are at an increased risk of or have serious attachment problems in order to identify commonly used manualised interventions and referral practices for attachment problems.

Phase 2 consisted of two systematic reviews. The first updated a previous published systematic review conducted within the team, identifying RCT evidence of parenting interventions aimed to reduce disorganised attachment or increase the rate of secure attachment between infant and caregiver. Second, we reviewed all of the available research evidence on the commonly used manualised interventions collected from the survey in phase 1.

For the two parts of the systematic reviews, a search was conducted across 15 databases, including EMBASE, ERIC, MEDLINE and PsycInfo. Different screening criteria and different data extraction methods were used for the two elements of the systematic review work. We followed the methods outlined by the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination and the Cochrane Collaboration. For the first review we examined RCT evidence from 2016 to the present date as an update to our last review in order to evaluate the effectiveness of parenting interventions used to improve attachment patterns. The most recent version of the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool was used to carry out a quality assessment of the final included studies. The second review investigated all of the available research evidence on the 10 identified routinely used interventions, regardless of study design. These 10 interventions were identified from the UK national survey that we distributed during phase 1. As the second review included all study designs, quality assessment was conducted using the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for RCTs and the Risk Of Bias In Non-randomised Studies – of Interventions (ROBINS-I) tool for all other studies. We did not quality assess case studies and case series designs.

Results

Survey

We received 625 responses from 734 services across all four nations of the UK. From the survey responses we identified the 10 most commonly used attachment interventions, which in turn informed the focus of the systematic review.

The survey collected information on measures used to assess attachment, a wide range of additional interventions, the training that professionals received and the way in which professionals defined attachment. This highlighted the limited use of standardised tools for assessing attachment and a lack of consistency in the use of the term attachment, with respondents providing a wide variety of definitions. The inconsistent use of the term attachment may have adverse effects on practitioner reports and recommendations for treatment and on the quality and appropriateness of interventions offered to children.

Systematic review 1

Interventions to increase the rate of secure attachment

Out of the seven new studies identified, all seven were RCT studies focused on increasing the rate of secure attachment. As this was an update of a previous review, a meta-analysis was conducted with the final studies found in this review, combined with the studies found in the previous review, meaning that there were 26 RCTs in total that aimed to increase rates of secure attachment. A meta-analysis revealed that, overall, attachment-focused parenting interventions significantly increase the rate of secure attachment (p < 0.001) [pooled odds ratio (OR) 1.85, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.36 to 2.52]. There were no significant effects in terms of the number of sessions (p = 0.07), if video feedback was used (p = 0.55), the age of the child (p = 0.43) and whether or not a male caregiver was included (p = 0.30).

Interventions to reduce disorganised attachment patterns

Out of the seven new studies identified, six RCTs focused on decreasing disorganised attachment. These were combined with those included studies in the previous review, giving a total of 20 RCTs in the meta-analysis. The results showed that, overall, attachment-focused parenting interventions

significantly reduce disorganised attachment (p < 0.001) (pooled OR 0.54, 95% CI 0.39 to 0.77). There were no significant effects in terms of the number of sessions (p = 0.14), if video feedback was used (p = 0.51), the age of the child (p = 0.14) and whether or not a male caregiver was included (p = 0.63).

Systematic review 2

Interventions for attachment used in routine UK practice

Overall, we identified 61 studies meeting our criteria that used one of the 10 most commonly used attachment-based interventions identified in our survey. Video feedback to promote positive parenting had the strongest evidence base, with 17 overall research studies and 15 RCTs. Attachment biobehavioural catch-up had the second-strongest evidence base, with 11 RCTs. This contrasts with the survey results, which showed that these two interventions were the least commonly used among the top 10 interventions in the UK. Notably, the most commonly used interventions, including Individual Child Psychotherapy, Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy and Theraplay, had little to no currently available published research evidence regarding their efficacy.

Implications for research

Taking into consideration the results from both of our reviews, we identified gaps in the literature that suggest important areas for future high-quality research. There is good evidence that attachment in infancy is a potential predictor of future relationships and individual qualities. It is also evident that disorganised attachment patterns can be reduced and secure attachment patterns can increase with effective interventions, mainly employing interventions that focus on promoting sensitive caregiving. Many interventions that are found to be used in UK services have a limited amount of evidence of efficacy, so there is an urgent need to conduct robust research on these interventions, including RCTs.

Implications for practice

There is an extensive body of evidence to suggest that certain types of attachment interventions are effective and should be employed in practice. Many interventions identified are aimed at improving parenting sensitivity, which has been found to be a significant predictor of attachment security. It is also important to assess attachment in services using validated measures. The availability of evidence-based attachment interventions in the UK is limited, despite good evidence and the recommendations of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence in 2015. The finding of a less rigid and inconsistent understanding of attachment among professionals can have an impact on the delivery of interventions. Our collaboration and involvement from our Expert Reference Group and patient and public involvement workshops has shown that practice is limited by access to training and robust measures, which can often have a high cost and be time-consuming. A more structured approach to the use of interventions for attachment, and to testing and routinely monitoring these interventions, is needed.

Ethics statement

The survey was conducted in accordance with the University College London Code of Conduct for Research and was approved by the University College London Research Ethics Committee prior to data collection (project ID 16687/001, approval granted 18 November 2019).

Study registration

This study is registered as PROSPERO CRD42019137362.

Funding

This project was funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment programme and will be published in full in *Health Technology Assessment*; Vol. 27, No. 2. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

Health Technology Assessment

ISSN 1366-5278 (Print)

ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)

Impact factor: 4.014

Launched in 1997, *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) has an impact factor of 4.014 and is ranked 27th (out of 108 titles) in the 'Health Care Sciences & Services' category of the Clarivate 2021 Journal Citation Reports (Science Edition). It is also indexed by MEDLINE, CINAHL (EBSCO Information Services, Ipswich, MA, USA), Embase (Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands), NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, Europe PMC, the Cochrane Library (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA), INAHTA, the British Nursing Index (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), and the Science Citation Index Expanded[™] (Clarivate[™], Philadelphia, PA, USA).

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full HTA archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Technology Assessment journal

Reports are published in *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

HTA programme

Health Technology Assessment (HTA) research is undertaken where some evidence already exists to show that a technology can be effective and this needs to be compared to the current standard intervention to see which works best. Research can evaluate any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease, provided the study outcomes lead to findings that have the potential to be of direct benefit to NHS patients. Technologies in this context mean any method used to promote health; prevent and treat disease; and improve rehabilitation or long-term care. They are not confined to new drugs and include any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease.

The journal is indexed in NHS Evidence via its abstracts included in MEDLINE and its Technology Assessment Reports inform National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. HTA research is also an important source of evidence for National Screening Committee (NSC) policy decisions.

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HTA programme as project number NIHR127810. The contractual start date was in July 2019. The draft report began editorial review in May 2021 and was accepted for publication in September 2021. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, these of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Copyright © 2023 Wright *et al.* This work was produced by Wright *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaption in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Dr Cat Chatfield Director of Health Services Research UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor John Powell Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK, and Professor of Digital Health Care, Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HSDR, PGfAR, PHR journals) and Editor-in-Chief of HSDR, PGfAR, PHR journals

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Consultant in Public Health, Delta Public Health Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Interim Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board. Consultant Advisor, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Senior Adviser, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Reader in Trials, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Emeritus Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Consultant Advisor, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Palliative Care and Paediatrics Unit, Population Policy and Practice Programme, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, London, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Jim Thornton Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk